IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPL

2009-CA-02009

APAC-TENNESSEE, INC.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

V.

ETHAN BRYANT, ET AL.

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES

Appeal from Circuit Court of DeSoto County

BRIEF OF APPELLANT APAC-TENNESSEE, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

William O. Luckett, Jr. (MSB # Luckett Tyner Law Firm, P.A. P. O. Drawer 1000 143 Yazoo Avenue Clarksdale, Mississippi 38614 Telephone: 662-624-2591 Facsimile: 662-627-5403

Brian L. Yoakum (TBN The Biller Law Firm 6000 Poplar Avenue, Suite 250 Memphis, Tennessee 38119 Telephone: 901-261-5454 Facsimile: 901-261-5457

Facsimile: 601-965-1901

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2009-CA-02009

APAC-TENNESSEE, INC.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. ISSUES REQUIRING JUDGMENT TO BE REVERSED AND RENDERED.

- 1. Whether the judgment against APAC-Tennessee, Inc. ("APAC"), violates the independent contractor rule as applied to independent haulers by settled law.
- 2. Whether the judgment against APAC can be affirmed without upending settled law and adopting a seriously erroneous view already specifically rejected by two landmark *en banc* opinions.
- 3. Whether plaintiffs' alternative "direct" negligence theory, which is based on remote speculative causes, can sustain the judgment, where the only proximate and only legal cause of the crash was the negligence of an independent contractor's driver in running a red light.

B. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, ISSUES REQUIRING A NEW TRIAL.

- Whether APAC was prejudiced by the refusal to instruct the jury that the scheduling of delivery of freight cannot convert an independent hauler into a respondeat superior servant.
- 2. Whether APAC was prejudiced by the refusal to instruct the jury that an independent contract is evidence of independent contractor status.
- 3. Whether the allocation of only 10% fault for the crash to the independent contractor's driver who ran the red light (and who pled guilty to aggravated assault and manslaughter for causing the crash) and a corresponding increase in damages awarded

demonstrate juror confusion, disregard for the instructions, passion and prejudice and are against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, all mandating a new trial.

- 4. Whether APAC was wrongly prohibited from proving that its independent haulers were required to be insured and that this independent hauler was insured.
- 5. Whether APAC was prejudiced by improper expert testimony regarding irrelevant purported regulatory violations and a misleading and unfounded conclusion of "control."

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

APAC requests oral argument to explain the injustice of the verdict against it and the violation of the independent contractor rule that the judgment represents.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a motor vehicle crash at an intersection in DeSoto County.

Chad McCarty was driving a dump truck loaded with sand when he failed to heed a traffic signal, entered the intersection against a red light, and struck plaintiff. Plaintiff Ethan

Bryant was seriously injured and is now disabled. His passenger was killed. McCarty was indicted for causing the crash and pled guilty to aggravated assault and manslaughter.

APAC is a civil contractor engaged primarily in concrete and asphalt paving.

APAC's connection to this crash is through an independent hauling agreement with

McCarty's family business Everything Wholesale LLC, of which McCarty was both an

¹ Bryant's passenger was Patrick Taylor. Claims arising from Taylor's death are the subject of a separate action and are not further addressed here.

owner and an employee. McCarty was hauling pursuant to that independent hauling agreement at the time of the crash.

The judgment against APAC must be reversed and rendered. As a matter of law, McCarty's negligent driving cannot be imputed to APAC, and APAC itself was not negligent. Under settled precedent, independent haulers like McCarty are independent contractors. Shippers using independent haulers have no duty to supervise acts as remote and independent as a hauler's driver's control of his vehicle on public roads. The judgment against APAC violates the independent contractor rule and must be reversed.

In the alternative, APAC is entitled to a new trial on multiple grounds. Among other things, the jury's allocation of only 10% fault to McCarty, and corresponding increase in the amount of damages awarded in excess of what plaintiffs asked for, demonstrate passion, prejudice and confusion mandating a new trial.

I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

APAC moved for summary judgment after discovery, pointing out the lack of legal grounds for a claim against it, including McCarty's status as an independent contractor.

CP 354. Summary judgment was denied. CP 1156 (RE tab 5).

APAC reasserted its motion for judgment at every appropriate juncture, seeking both directed verdict and JNOV.² Relief was repeatedly denied.³ Plaintiffs' case against

² Motions for directed verdict (T 657 & 907) and JNOV (CP 1688).

³ T 705-716 (RE tab 8) (denying directed verdict), T 908-909 (RE tab 9) (denying directed verdict on renewed motion), CP 1717 (RE tab 7) (order denying JNOV or New trial).

APAC was presented to the jury together with plaintiffs' case against McCarty and Everything Wholesale.

At trial, plaintiffs argued that McCarty was an "employee" (i.e., a respondeat superior servant) of APAC, for whose negligence APAC was liable by operation of law. Plaintiffs also argued that APAC was negligent in allegedly failing to monitor McCarty's hauls in Mississippi for compliance with Mississippi roadway weight limitations for a truck of his truck's size.

Appearing at trial as an individual defendant and as a representative of defendant Everything Wholesale, McCarty admitted his criminal guilty pleas and purported to admit negligence and to take responsibility for his negligence, but he nevertheless joined with plaintiffs in blaming APAC for allegedly causing the crash by failing to monitor his Mississippi loads. T 191-93.

Displaying their confusion and the effects of improper sympathy, the jury returned a verdict assessing McCarty as only 10% at fault for the crash. CP 1577 (RE tab 14). The verdict allocated 70% fault to APAC. *Id.* The remaining 20% fault was allocated to former defendant Memphis Stone & Gravel Company – the company that loaded McCarty's truck on its premises immediately before the crash. *Id.* Memphis Stone & Gravel was named as a defendant but settled before trial and was dismissed. CP 1167.

APAC's post-trial motions (CP 1688) were denied. CP 1717 (RE tab 7).

II. Statement of Facts.

A. APAC Uses Independent Haulers to Meet Seasonal Demands.

APAC is a civil contractor engaged primarily in concrete and asphalt paving of highways and airports. T 843-44. APAC owns trucks and has employee-drivers who haul materials using APAC's own trucks. T 728. APAC's paving work is seasonal due to weather and the bidding process. T 846. To meet seasonal demands, APAC relies on independent contract haulers. *Id*.

As a commercial enterprise, APAC maintains a formal employment payroll. T 865. It is undisputed that, unlike APAC's employee-drivers, McCarty did not apply for formal employment with APAC and was not placed on APAC's employment payroll. T 368. McCarty's relationship with APAC was through a standard form "Renewable Trucking Agreement" between APAC and "Diesel Construction LLC," a business name (or d/b/a) used by McCarty's family business Everything Wholesale for its trucking and hauling business. Ex. 36 (RE tab 12).

B. Everything Wholesale, of which McCarty was Both Owner and Employee, Was a Family Business With Other Ventures.

Before going into business for himself with Everything Wholesale, Chad McCarty had worked as an employee for construction, landscaping and other businesses, where he gained experience operating heavy equipment. T 286-88, 333-36, 346. About a year before the crash, McCarty formed Everything Wholesale LLC with his wife, Brooke, and her father, Daniel Cummings. T 334. Each was a one-third owner. T 371. During its

first year of operation, Everything Wholesale focused on developing a salvage business, for which the owners used the doing-business name McCarty Surplus. T 371.

The Everything Wholesale owners decided to buy a truck and expand into construction work after Cummings identified independent hauling jobs with APAC as a revenue opportunity. T 290-91, 335. They decided to use the doing-business name "Diesel Construction LLC" for the construction venture, to distinguish it from their salvage business. T 294. They bought a truck, and McCarty began using it for landscaping jobs before hauling for APAC. T 291- 92. Everything Wholesale maintained the truck. T 367-68.

Julie Arick was the dispatch supervisor who handled independent contractor relationships for APAC.⁴ Chad and Brooke McCarty met with Arick initially to find out what they needed to do to obtain independent hauling work with APAC and later to supply what was needed and sign paperwork, including an independent hauling agreement, entitled "Renewable Trucking Agreement." Brooke McCarty signed the Renewable Trucking Agreement and other paperwork on behalf of Everything Wholesale doing business as Diesel Construction LLC. *Id.*

In accordance with the Renewable Trucking Agreement, Everything Wholesale obtained liability insurance and listed APAC as an insured. T 831-32 (proffer), Ex. 71 ID (RE tab 13).

⁴ T 815, 293, 726, 729-30. APAC's hiring of regular employees was handled by others. *Id.*

⁵ T 294-95; Ex. 36 (RE tab 12). See also Ex. 37 (safety responsibility sheet), Ex. 66 (checklist). Ex. 67 (payment authorization), Ex. 68 (W-9).

C. McCarty Hauled for APAC for Three Weeks Under APAC's Hauling Agreement With Everything Wholesale.

McCarty hauled his first load for APAC a little more than two weeks before the crash and completed his last haul for APAC the day before the crash.⁶ The crash occurred during what would have been his first haul on August 3, 2006, which was not completed. T 299, 326. McCarty made completed hauls for APAC on 14 different days. Ex. 51.

McCarty spent 12 of the 14 days he worked for APAC hauling loads within the state of Tennessee.⁷ He spent the other two days on the Mississippi to Tennessee haul that he was on at the time of the crash. T 302. McCarty was beginning what would have been his third day on this haul when the crash occurred. This haul involved loading at former defendant Memphis Stone & Gravel's facility on Pleasant Hill Road in DeSoto County, Mississippi, and hauling to an unmanned drop on Tuggle Road in Tennessee. T 299-300.

As dispatch supervisor, Arick coordinated independent contractor hauling for APAC. Based on anticipated needs, Arick called independent haulers each afternoon and offered them hauls for the next day. T 777. If the haul was a new one, she would explain the rate of pay or "haul rate" offered. T 806. APAC did not specify a number of hauls or an amount of tonnage for the independent haulers to deliver, or designate or monitor routes of delivery. T 801, 805, 326. Haulers chose their own schedules and routes and

⁶ Ex. 51. McCarty's first hauls for APAC were on July 17, 2002, and his last complete haul was on August 2, 2006, the day before the crash.

⁷ Ex. 51. McCarty's Tennessee hauls were from an APAC facility in Memphis to a site in midtown Memphis. T 300.

the number and size of their loads. Haulers were paid for completed hauls by the ton according to the haul rate. T 806. The contract required haulers to comply with all laws and regulations, including highway weight limitations. Ex. 36 ¶ 6 (RE tab 12); Ex. 37.

Independent haulers could decline any haul because of dissatisfaction with the haul rate or for any other reason. T 798. McCarty declined the haul he was originally offered for August 3. T 799. Arick wanted McCarty to return to the haul in Tennessee on August 3. *Id.* McCarty declined the offer and asked if he could continue to haul from Memphis Stone & Gravel to Tuggle Road, because he preferred that haul. *Id.* McCarty's counter-offer was accepted. *Id.*

D. McCarty Ran a Red Light.

At the Memphis Stone & Gravel facility, McCarty's truck was loaded by Memphis Stone & Gravel personnel. T 306. McCarty did not know it, but his truck was being loaded in excess of Mississippi highway weight limitations for a truck of his truck's size. T 327-28, 363. McCarty did not know that the Mississippi weight limitation for his truck was lower than the limit in Tennessee. *Id.* McCarty was taking on loads at Memphis Stone & Gravel that were the same size he was used to hauling in Tennessee and that would be legal once he crossed the border into Tennessee.

McCarty departed Memphis Stone & Gravel and headed for Tuggle Road, about 15 miles away in Tennessee. McCarty followed a route over secondary roads that he had selected by following other independent contractor drivers on previous hauls. T 314.

When the crash occurred, McCarty was traveling west on Goodman Road in Southaven, a four-lane road. Ex. 34 (RE tab 10). Plaintiff was traveling north on Malone Road, also four-lane. *Id.* The large intersection formed by these two four-lane roads is controlled by traffic signals. *Id.* Plaintiff entered the intersection on a green light with the intention of continuing north on Malone Road. *Id.* McCarty ran the red light and crashed into plaintiff, pushing plaintiffs' truck across the westbound lanes of Goodman Road, off the north side of the roadway, and into a utility pole. *Id.*

McCarty was indicted and pled guilty to aggravated assault and manslaughter.

T 316. He was also fined for his truck being overweight for a truck of its size in

Mississippi. Ex. 46. At trial, McCarty joined with plaintiffs in blaming the crash on this excess load. T 192, 1016-17.

Plaintiffs relied upon an accident reconstruction expert at trial to support their (and McCarty's) contention that the excess load, and not McCarty, was to blame for causing the crash. To support this contention, plaintiffs' expert calculated that the excess loading increased the time McCarty needed to bring the truck to a complete stop that morning from about 7 to about 10 seconds. Plaintiffs' expert admitted that the crash would have happened anyway. T 424 ("The wreck still would have occurred"). He speculated that the area of impact would might have been different. *Id.* ("It could have been... a little bit

⁸ T 419 (estimating that the extra load increased total stopping time from 6.88 seconds to 9.71 seconds, a difference of 2.83 seconds). The impact occurred before McCarty brought the truck to a complete stop. Ex. 34 (RE tab 10).

more to the front ... and it's possible even that it could have been to the rear" of plaintiff's vehicle).

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

Judgment For APAC. The judgment against APAC violates the independent contractor rule and must be reversed and rendered. Any person who does work for another, but who is not a "servant" for purposes of the respondeat superior doctrine, is by definition an independent contractor. The independent contractor "rule" recognizes that vicarious liability is not imputed to a principal where respondeat superior servant status cannot be shown. Under settled law, independent haulers like Everything Wholesale and its driver McCarty lack respondeat superior servant status as a matter of law and are therefore independent contractors, for whose torts a principal like APAC is not liable.

So far as we can determine, no court in the country has examined the *respondeat-superior*-servant / independent-contractor status of independent haulers like Everything Wholesale and McCarty as intensely as has this Court. The resulting landmark *en banc* decisions, which ought to be considered the leading authority in the country on this subject, preclude the liability imposed on APAC by this judgment.⁹

These decisions establish that "the scheduling of delivery . . . cannot be found to confer sufficient control to convert [an independent hauler] and his employees into employees of the owner of the freight." The decisions also confirm that the right to

⁹ Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc., 631 So. 2d 143 (Miss. 1994) (Hawkins, C.J., en banc); Webster v. Mississippi Publishers Corp., 571 So. 2d 946 (Miss. 1990) (Blass, J., en banc).

¹⁰ Webster, 571 So. 2d at 951.

form an independent contractor relationship must be respected unless the agreement is no more than a legal fiction or sham to conceal a servant with no real economic or other independence from the master.¹¹

Here, there is a total absence of evidence indicative of a legal fiction or sham. To the contrary, for purposes of imposing liability on APAC, this case is indistinguishable from cases denying *respondeat superior* liability as a matter of law. Plaintiffs' assertions to the contrary rest on theories definitively rejected 20 years ago. The judgment cannot be affirmed without upsetting those precedents and the long list of prior precedents on which they were based.

Plaintiffs' alternative negligence theory also cannot sustain the judgment. APAC was not negligent in any way causally, much less proximately, related to the crash.

McCarty ran a red light. His grossly negligent driving, for which he pled guilty to a crime, was the only legal cause of the crash. Plaintiffs' purported weight expert admitted that the crash would have occurred regardless of any excess loading. There is no evidence from which a reasonable jury could conclude that the three-second difference in stopping time that plaintiffs' expert speculated about would have made any difference in the crash or in plaintiffs' losses. Furthermore, APAC did not load McCarty's truck; a third-party seller loaded McCarty at its own facility, without any participation by APAC. Even if the loading created a relevant legally cognizable risk (which is denied), APAC was under no duty to supervise such remote independent acts.

¹¹ Richardson, 631 So. 2d at 150.

Plaintiffs cannot use Tennessee law to sustain the judgment. Tennessee and Mississippi apply the same common-law principles on all material points. Mississippi's case law is more developed, and the resulting definitive interpretations, on indistinguishable facts, of these mutually held common-law principles cannot be avoided here.

New Trial. In the alternative, APAC is entitled to a new trial on multiple grounds. APAC was wrongly refused jury instructions that would have correctly instructed the jury (a) that the scheduling of delivery cannot convert an independent hauler into a respondeat superior servant, and (b) that an independent contract is evidence of independent contractor status. The law and evidence unequivocally support both points. The instructions as given did not inform the jury accordingly and in fact implied that the law is exactly the opposite of what the law actually is on both points. Plaintiffs argued accordingly in closing, compounding the error. The prejudice to APAC was substantial.

The jury's allocation of 70% fault to APAC and only 10% fault to McCarty and Everything Wholesale demonstrates juror confusion and passion and prejudice and is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The jury's corresponding decision to award 130% of the damages plaintiffs asked for disregards the law and evidence and confirms passion and prejudice. It is apparent that the jury deliberated inflated the damages award and structured the allocation of fault percentages so as to make APAC liable for all the damages plaintiffs had asked for – in defiance of the law, the evidence and their instructions.

APAC was wrongly prohibited from proving that its independent haulers were required to be insured and that Everything Wholesale and McCarty were insured. This evidence was not offered for the improper purpose of showing that McCarty acted negligently – that was not in dispute at trial (McCarty admitted it). To the contrary, the evidence was offered, and was material and probative, to show that Everything Wholesale and McCarty were operationally and financially independent of APAC. Since plaintiffs placed precisely that issue sharply in dispute, APAC had a right to introduce controverting evidence.

Finally, APAC was further prejudiced by improper expert testimony regarding irrelevant purported regulatory violations and a misleading and unfounded conclusion of "control." The purported opinion flatly contradicted this Court's express teachings and gave a specious expert "stamp of approval" to plaintiffs' erroneous contentions regarding on the principal issue in the case.

ARGUMENT

I. APAC Is Entitled to Judgment as a Matter of Law Because McCarty's Negligent Driving Cannot be Imputed to It.

The judgment against APAC must be reversed and rendered because McCarty was an independent contractor and APAC was not negligent.

A. Haulers Like Everything Wholesale and McCarty Are Independent Contractors as a Matter of Settled Law.

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