# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2009-CA-02009

APAC-TENNESSEE, INC.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

V.

ETHAN BRYANT, ET AL.

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

Cross Appeal from the Circuit Court of Desoto County

## BRIEF OF APPELLEES/CROSS APPELLANTS ETHAN BRYANT, ET AL.

# **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### 2009-CA-02009

APAC-TENNESSEE, INC.

V.

ETHAN BRYANT, ET AL.

### APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

CASE NO. 2009-CA-02009

APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an

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

Also of note to the court, in light of the applicable case law, was that the contract between McCarty and APAC allowed it to terminate McCarty "at will." (T 710-712, RE 7; Ex. 36, RE 18). This is of importance as the Tennessee Supreme Court has noted that the right of termination "has gained controlling significance" in such cases where the status of employment is in question. *Masiers*, 639 S.W.2d at 656. "The power of a party to a work contract to terminate the relationship at will is contrary to the full control of work activities usually enjoyed by an independent contractor." *Id.* at 657.<sup>21</sup> In light of the issues of control, the power to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The evidence of control was that APAC: (1) assigned a "dispatch supervisor" to direct McCarty's actions (T 815, RE 11); (2) ordered McCarty to drive for another company to satisfy a minority contract (T 301-02, RE 14; T 761-64, RE 11; T 857, 872, 875, RE 12); (3) created master schedules, and told each driver the night before where to go (T 295, RE 14; T 772, 774, 776, RE 11; Exh. 52); (4) provided instructions on what routes should be taken by the drivers (T 801, RE 11); (5) told McCarty where to go, what to haul, and where to haul (T 296, RE 14); (6) and told him what hours to work, when to start and when to stop (T 321, RE 14). McCarty also used APAC's accounts to get his loads (T 304-305, 322, RE 14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See also Wade v. Traxler Gravel Co., for the proposition that "[t]he power to fire is the power to control." Wade v. Traxler Gravel Co., 100 So.2d 103, 109 (Miss. 1958). The absolute right to terminate the relationship without liability is not consistent with the concept of independent contract. Wade, 100 So.2d at 109.

terminate at will, and APAC's unilateral control over the methods of payment and the use of McCarty to satisfy a minority contract, there was substantial evidence to support the Desoto County jury's conclusion that McCarty was an employee of APAC rather than an independent contractor. For these reasons, the Trial Court correctly noted that it felt that "the issue of whether Mr. McCarty was in fact an employee and/or agent of APAC, Inc. is a jury issue." (T 709, RE 7). As it was for the jury to decide, the verdict in this case should be affirmed as it is supported by substantial evidence.

The only time the issue of employment becomes a question of law is when the facts of the case are undisputed. *Cromwell General Contractor, Inc. v. Lytle*, 439 S.W.2d 598, 600-601 (Tenn. 1969); *Curtis v. Hamilton Block Co.*, 466 S.W.2d 220, 279 (Tenn. 1971); *Mayberry v. Bon Air Chemical Co.*, 25 S.W.2d 148, 150 (Tenn. 1930) ("where the evidence is conflicting and more than one inference can be drawn therefrom, the question as to whether the employee is a servant is one of fact"). In cases that do not involve worker's compensation, the Tennessee courts have consistently held that the question of whether or not a person is deemed an employee or an independent contractor is a question of fact which should be submitted to the jury. *Goodale v. Langenberg*, 243 S.W.3d 575, 582-583 (Tenn. App. 2007) (holding where there is disputed evidence concerning enumerated factors and on issue of control, trial court correctly allowed issue to be submitted to jury, and verdict for plaintiff was upheld).<sup>22</sup>

A factually similar matter was presented to the Tennessee Court of Appeals in 1993. Donaldson v. Weaver, No. 02A01-9208-CV0-00249 (Tenn. App. April 7, 1993) (Appendix B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> In a worker's compensation case, the Tennessee Supreme Court *specifically* stated that whether or not a person is an employee or an independent contractor "is a question for the Chancellor in this particular case [but] [w]hen such matters are tried to a jury it becomes a question of fact for the jury to determine." *Barker v. Curtis*, 287 S.W.2d 43, 46 (Tenn. 1956) (emphasis added).

In that case, a gravel truck owned by a man named Hardin, and being driven by a man named Weaver, struck and injured the plaintiffs. Donaldson, No. 02A01-9208-CV-00249, at \*1 (Appendix B). During discovery, facts came to light to show that the defendant Martin Paving was involved with the handling of the load. Id. at \*1. The issue then became similar to that presented in this case (*i.e.* whether respondent superior liability would attach). Id. at \*1. There was conflicting evidence presented, with the defendant arguing that Weaver selected his own hours, and that Martin did not control the routes. Id. at \*3. The plaintiffs countered this with evidence that Martin Paving had the right to instruct on where to haul, the amount to haul, where to pick it up and deliver, and the manner of unloading. Id. at \*4. The Trial Court (and court of appeals) performed a factor based analysis and found that it was apparent that Martin exercised some control and "a finder of fact could decide that Hardin's drivers are more or less turned over to Martin for the hauling operation." Id. at \*5. As a result, the appellate court stated that where there was uncertainty over disputed evidence, "the duty of the Trial Court is clear ... [h]e is to overrule any motion for summary judgment ... because summary judgment proceedings are not in any sense to be viewed as a substitute for a trial of disputed factual issues."  $Id^{23}$ 

There is greater evidence in the case *sub judice* to support that McCarty was an employee than the evidence presented in the *Donaldson* case. *Id.* at \*3-4.<sup>24</sup> As there are even more factual issues in dispute than there were in the *Donaldson* case, this matter was correctly submitted to a jury for a decision, since the jury was and is the finder of fact in the case. *Id.* at \*5; *Goodale*, 243

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See also Toothman v. Burns Stone Co, No. 89-341-II, 01-A-01-9001-CV0012, 01-A-01-9001-CV00035, at \*4 (Tenn. App. July 13, 1990) (Appendix C) (holding genuine issues of material fact existed on issue of independent contractor vs. employee issue such that summary judgment was not warranted); Ascolese v. Misco, Inc., No. 88-283-II (Tn. App. March 22, 1989) (Appendix D) (holding an employee's status is generally one of fact unless there is undisputed evidence to the contrary).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See footnote 20, supra.

S.W.3d at 582-583.25

APAC argues that sustaining the jury verdict in this case would somehow upset Mississippi precedent. The current case in no way espouses or "resuscitates" the holding of *W.J. Runyon & Son. W.J. Runyon & Son, Inc. v. Davis,* 605 So.2d 38 (Miss. 1992). In the present case, *Runyon* was neither cited nor relied upon by either the Plaintiffs nor the Trial Court. The basis for the ruling in this case was upon the application of Tennessee law, which all parties agreed was proper. (T 11-13, RE 4). Further, the Trial Court noted that, based upon *Richardson* (not *Runyon*), the outcome would have been the same. (R 1160, 1163, RE 5).

APAC relies on the case of *Webster v. Mississippi Publishers Corp.* for the proposition that scheduling of deliveries at fixed times cannot be used to create a *respondeat superior* servant. *Webster v. Mississippi Publishers Corp.*, 571 So.2d 946, 951 (Miss. 1990). Again, this is not the true holding of *Webster. Webster*, 571 So.2d at 951. The result reached in *Webster* occurred because there it was held that the proof of scheduling *alone* was not sufficient to create a relationship beyond the independent contractor agreement, and the plaintiff did not offer evidence to dispute this fact. *Id.* at 948, 951 (emphasis added). In fact, a contrary result occurred in the most recent case reviewing employment status in Mississippi in 2006. *Walker v. McClendon Carpet Service, Inc.*, 952 So.2d 1008, 1010 (Miss.App. 2006) (citing *Kisner v. Jackson*, 159 Miss. 424, 428-429 (Miss. 1931)); *see also Stewart v. Lofton Timber Co., LLC*, 943 So.2d 729 (Miss.App. 2006). In *Walker*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals found that essentially *one* contested issue on the matter of control that was in dispute was sufficient to preclude a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> As in Tennessee, Mississippi states that where the facts are undisputed, the matter can be dealt with summarily, but where the facts are disputed, then the question is ultimately one for the jury. *Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc.*, 631 So.2d 143, 152 (Miss. 1994); *Savory*, 954 So.2d at 933.

determination as a matter of law. Walker, 952 So.2d at 1011 (emphasis added).<sup>26</sup>

*Richardson* and *Webster* do not stand for the proposition that liability should have been precluded against APAC in this case as a matter of law, especially in light of this Court's ruling in *Savory*. *Savory* 954 So.2d at 933. Rather, what these cases stand for is that the courts must look to each case on its own set of facts, and make a determination as to whether there are questions of material fact as to an independent contractor relationship, or whether the relationship is that of master and servant. *Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc.*, 631 So.2d 143, 147-148. (Miss. 1994). "[W]hen the facts pertaining to the existence or non-existence of an agency are conflicting, or conflicting inferences may be drawn from the evidence, the question presented is one of fact for the jury, . . . and even though the evidence is not full or satisfactory, it is the better practice to submit the question to the trier of fact." *Savory*, 954 So.2d at 933.<sup>27</sup>

Additionally, APAC's reliance on the argument that the outcome of this case should have been the same as that in *Richardson v. APAC* is misplaced. As Judge Robert Chamberlin noted, based upon the facts of the present case, an application of the same law enumerated by the Court in *Richardson* required that this case be submitted to a jury based upon multiple issues of contested fact. (R 1163, RE 5). In *Richardson*, the relationship was substantially different in that McCandless, as the driver, (1) obtained insurance separate from APAC; (2) APAC had "no control over where McCandless obtained his materials, supplies, or equipment for his hauling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> In *Walker*, because there was conflicting evidence on one issue (whether the defendant had provided insurance coverage), the Court determined that the matter should not have been decided as a matter of law. *Walker*, 952 So.2d at 1010-1011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Plaintiffs argued at trial an agency issue existed beyond the terms of the agreement as APAC testified it didn't own the load until it was dumped on their lot. (Exh. 55 Section APAC00156-13, 1:33-1:38). Only after it was dumped did APAC have to pay. *Id.* Plaintiffs argued McCarty was therefore an agent of APAC, as his transmittal of the load created a contract obligating APAC to pay Memphis Stone.

business, nor the prices he paid for those items"; (3) APAC did not pay him for mileage; (4) APAC merely notified McCandless of where and when work was available; (5) "APAC did not control how many loads McCandless hauled per day, or how many hours or days he would work"; (6) McCandless chose his own times to work, his own routes and his own methods to complete the job, with no instruction whatsoever from APAC; (7) McCandless held B&P Trucking out to the public as an independent trucking company available for public hire; and lastly (8) that McCandless worked for APAC only on an intermittent basis, also working for other companies during the same period. Richardson, 631 So.2d at 145-146. Further, Richardson v. APAC did not have the additional evidence that APAC used the driver to satisfy a minority contract, altered the methods of payment as it saw fit, and took the position that the agreement could be terminated at will.<sup>28</sup> As seen by the evidence above, each of these particular issues is contested or subject to questions of material fact such that, under Tennessee law (or even applying the facts of Richardson v. APAC), the matter was properly submitted to the jury for a determination of employment status, *Id.* at 152. Based upon the testimony and documents, there was substantial evidence in this case such that a reasonable juror could find that McCarty was an employee of APAC, and therefore that lawful verdict should not now be disturbed.<sup>29</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See footnote 20, *supra*. Additionally, McCarty never looked for work elsewhere and never advertised or performed work for any other company or entity. (T 319-321, RE 14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> "A jury's verdict based on proper evidence and instruction occupies and especially exalted position." *American National*, 749 So.2d at 1259. "No new trial should be granted unless the 'verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or is contrary to law." *Id.* at 1259. A court of review should not "render a verdict contrary to it short of a conclusion on our part that, given the evidence as a whole, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found as the jury did." *Id.* at 1258.

#### IV. NEW TRIAL IS NOT WARRANTED

# A. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED

In this case, the jury was accurately and thoroughly instructed on the law. (R 1579-1602, RE 24). There is no reversible error if the jury instructions as a whole fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice. *Etheridge*, 960 So.2d at 481. "If a proposed jury instruction repeats a theory fairly covered in another instruction, incorrectly states the law, or is without adequate foundation in the evidence of the case, a Trial Court may properly refuse to grant the instruction." *Id.* at 481-482. In this case, the jury had substantial instructions before it which accurately set forth the law, and specifically advised the jury to consider elements of control. (R 1590-1591, 1600-1601, RE 24). Further, APAC was allowed to argue its interpretation of the evidence to the jury. As such, there was no error in denial of APAC's proposed instruction, and new trial is not warranted.

The Trial Court ruled that any instruction dealing with control factors to be considered needed to be "general descriptions" of the factor, and should not contain "fact specific criteria that just supports one side or the other." (T 978, RE 23). As to D-3(8), the Trial Court noted that it contained comment on the evidence, which should be removed. (T 977-978, 990, RE 23). APAC was provided an opportunity to amend D-3(8), but chose not to do so. (T 977-978, 990, RE 23; R 1658-1660). Because of this, Judge Chamberlin denied D-3(8) in part and gave an amended version of D-3(8) which took out the improper comments on the evidence. (T 990, RE 23; R 1600).<sup>30</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The Court gave free reign to the parties to argue any factors they wished before the jury. (T 990, RE 23). Judge Chamberlin specifically instructed the jury that the factors enumerated in the jury instructions were by no means an exclusive list (R 1590, 1601, RE 24). APAC in fact argued to the jury that giving directions to McCarty was not enough to establish control. (T 1030-1031, 1035).

Once the Trial Court amended D-3(8), there was no further objection made by APAC. (T 989-990, RE 23).<sup>31</sup> Rule 3.07 of the Mississippi Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules requires that attorneys "dictate into the record their specific objections to the requested instructions stating grounds for each objection." *Savory* 954 So.2d at 933-934 (citing URCCC 3.07). APAC made no objection to the amendment of D-3(8) contemporaneous with the Trial Court's ruling (T 977-978, 990-992, RE 23). An alleged erroneous instruction will not be heard on appeal unless a contemporaneous, distinct objection is made. *Id.* at 933-934. As APAC failed to make any objection to the amendment of its instruction, it has waived said objection and should be barred from raising this issue now. *Id.* at 934.

There is no basis for error in the refusal of the instruction under Tennessee law. *Bargery v. Obion Grain Co.*, 785 S.W.2d 118, 119-120 (Tenn. 1990).<sup>32</sup> Rather, the factors and tests set forth in Tennessee are intended as a guide to analysis, and are not intended to preclude an examination of the work relationship as a whole. *Masiers*, 639 S.W.2d at 656. The proper method of instructing the jury was for it to be provided the law that control is a prevalent factor in the determination of the employment relationship. *Id.* at 656. The test is not whether or not control was exercised, but "merely whether the right to control existed." *Stratton v. United Inter-Mountain Tel. Co.*, 695 S.W.2d 947, 950 (Tenn. 1985). In *Bargery*, the court *reiterated* that the seven factors listed by it in its instruction were the primary (but not exclusive) indicia in

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